Zu ausserordentlichen Generalversammlungen hat der Verwaltungsrat einzula-
den, wenn Aktionire, die mindestens zehn Prozent des Aktienkapitals vertreten,
schriftlich und unter Angabe der Verhandlungsgegenstinde und der Antrége eine
Einberufung verlangen,

Artikel 9

Die Generalversammlung wird durch den Verwaltungsrat, nétigenfalls durch die
Revisionsstelle einberufen, Das Einberufungsrecht steht auch den Liquidatoren
zu,

Die Generalversammlung wird durch Brief an die Aktiondre einberufen, und
zwar mindestens zwanzig Tage vor dem Versammlungstag. In der Einberufung
sind die Verhandlungsgegenstinde sowie die Antrige des Verwaltungsrates und
der Aktiondre bekanntzugeben, welche die Durchfiihrung einer Generalver-
sammlung oder die Traktandierung eines Verhandlungsgegenstandes verlangt
haben.

Uber Gegenstinde, die nicht in dieser Weise angekiindigt worden sind, kénnen
unter dem Vorbehalt der Bestimmungen iiber die Universalversammlung keine
Beschliisse gefasst werden, ausser tiber einen Antrag auf Einberufung einer aus-
serordentlichen Generalversammlung oder auf Durchfiihrung einer Sonderprii-
fung. Dagegen bedarf es zur Stellung von Antrdgen im Rahmen der Verhand-
lungsgegenstinde und zu Verhandlungen ohne Beschlussfassung keiner vorheri-
gen Ankiindigung.

Die Eigentlimer oder Vertreter sémtlicher Aktien kdnnen, falls kein Widerspruch
erhoben wird, eine Generalversammlung ohne Einhaltung der fiir die Einberu-
fung vorgeschriebenen Formvorschriften abhalten (Universalversammlung). So-
lange die Eigentiimer oder Vertreter samtlicher Aktien anwesend sind, kann in
dieser Versammlung tiber alle in den Geschifiskreis der Generalversammlung
fallenden Gegensténde verhandelt und giiltig Beschluss gefasst werden.

Spiitestens zwanzig Tage vor der ordentlichen Generalversammlung sind der Ge-
schaftsbericht und der Revisionsbericht am Sitz der Gesellschaft den Aktionédren
zur Einsicht aufzulegen. In der Einberufung zur Generalversammlung ist darauf
hinzuweisen,

JOSE MIGUEL BAENA VALBUENA
C / leman

Traductor/Inte ete Jurado de alem

15 MOV, 2019



Artikel 10
Den Vorsitz der Generalversammlung fithrt der Prisident, bei dessen Verhinde-
rung ein anderes Mitglied des Verwaltungsrates oder ein anderer von der Gene-

ralversammlung gewihlter Tagesprésident.

Der Vorsitzende bezeichnet den Protokollfithrer und die Stimmenzihler, die
nicht Aktionédre sein miissen.

Der Verwaltungsrat sorgt fiir die Fithrung der Protokolle, die vom Vorsitzenden
und vom Protokollfithrer zu unterzeichnen sind.

Artikel 11
Jede Aktie berechtigt zu einer Stimme.
Jeder Aktiondr kann sich in der Generalversammlung durch eine andere Person,
die sich durch eine schriftliche Vollmacht ausweist, vertreten lassen. Der Vertre-
ter muss nicht Aktionér sein.
Die Generalversammlung fasst ihre Beschliisse und vollzieht ihre Wahlen mit
der absoluten Mehrheit der vertretenen Aktienstimmen, soweit nicht das Gesetz
oder die Statuten abweichende Bestimmungen enthalten.
Der Vorsitzende hat den Stichentscheid.
Die Wahlen und Abstimmungen finden offen statt, sofern nicht der Vorsitzende
oder einer der Aktionére verlangt, dass sie geheim erfolgen.

Artikel 12

Ein Beschluss der Generalversammlung, der mindestens zwei Drittel der vertre-
tenen Aktienstimmen und die absolute Mehrheit der vertretenen Aktiennennwer-
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te auf sich vereinigt, ist in Erginzung zu den gesetzlichen Quorumsvorschriften
von Art. 704 Abs. 1 OR erforderlich fiir:

I; die Erleichterung oder Aufhebung der Beschrinkung der Ubertragbarkeit

der Namenaktien;
! 2. die Umwandlung von Namenaktien in Inhaberaktien;
| % die Auflésung der Gesellschaft mit Liquidation;

4, die Abénderung dieses Artikels.

St s et e

B. Verwaltungsrat

Artikel 13

Der Verwaltungsrat besteht aus bis zu zehn Mitgliedem. Er wird jeweils fiir die
Dauer von drei Jahren gewihit. Die Amtsdauer der Mitglieder des Verwal-
tungsrates endet mit dem Tag der néchsten ordentlichen Generalversammlung,
Vorbehalten bleiben vorheriger Riicktritt oder Abberufung. Neue Mitglieder tre-
ten in die Amtsdauer derjenigen ein, die sie ersetzen. Die Mitglieder des Verwal-
tungsrates sind jederzeit wieder wihlbar,

Der Verwaltungsrat konstituiert sich selbst. Er bezeichnet einen Sekretér, der
nicht Mitglied des Verwaltungsrates sein muss.

Avrtikel 14

Dem Verwaltungsrat obliegt die Oberleitung der Gesellschaft sowie die Aufsicht
und Kontrolle iber die Geschiftsfuhrung. Er besorgt alle Angelegenheiten, die
nicht nach Gesetz, Statuten oder Reglement cinem anderen Organ der Gesell-
schaft iibertragen sind.

Der Verwaltungsrat kann die Geschéftsfihrung nach Massgabe des Organisati-
onsreglementes an einzelne Mitglieder oder an Dritte tibertragen.

JOSE MIGUEL BAENA VALBUENA
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Der Verwaltungsrat hat folgende uniibertragbare und vnentziehbare Aufgaben:

k Oberleitung der Gesellschaft und Erteilung der néti gen Weisungen,
2. Erlass der notwendigen Reglemente;
3 Ausgestaltung des Rechnungswesens, der Finanzkontrolle sowie der Fi-

nanzplanung;

4, Emennung und Abberufung der mit der Geschéfisfithrung und der Vertre-
tung betrauten Personen und Regelung der Zeichnungsberechtigung;

5. Oberaufsicht iiber die mit der Geschéftsfihrung betrauten Personen, na-

mentlich im Hinblick auf die Befolgung der Gesetze, Statuten, Regle-
mente und Weisungen;

6. Erstellung des Geschiftsberichtes sowie Vorbereitung der General-
versammlung und Ausfithrung ihrer Beschliisse;
7. Benachrichtigung des Richters im Falle der Uberschuldung,

Der Verwaltungsrat kann die Vorbereitung und Ausflihrung seiner Beschliisse,
einzelne Uberwachungsaufgaben sowie, soweit es sich nicht um uniibertragbare
Aufgaben handelt, einzelne Entscheidbefugnisse Ausschiissen oder einzelnen

Mitgliedern zuweisen. Er sorgt fiir eine angemessene Berichterstattung an seine
Mitglieder.

Der Verwaltungsrat erldsst ein Organisationsreglement, das alle zu seiner Orga-
nisation notwendigen Aspekte regelt,

Artikel 15

Sitzungsordnung, Beschlussfihigkeit (Prisenz) und Beschlussfassung des Ver-
waltungsrates richten sich nach dem Organisationsreglement.

Uber die Verhandlungen und Beschliisse des Verwaltungsrates ist ein Protokoll
zu fiihren, Das Protokoll ist vom Vorsitzenden und vom Protokollfithrer zu un-
terzeichnen.

Artikel 16

Die Mitglieder des Verwaltungsrates haben Anspruch auf Ersatz ihrer im Inte-
resse der Gesellschaft aufgewendeten Auslagen sowie auf eine ihrer Tatigkeit
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10

entsprechende Entschidigung, die der Verwaltungsrat selbst festlegt (vorbehal-
ten ist eine Delegation nach Art. 14 Abs. 4 Statuten).

C, Revisionsstelle

Artikel 17
Die Generalversammlung wihlt jedes Jahr eine oder mehrere natiirliche oder ju-

ristische Personen, die fiir banken- und borsengesetzliche Revisionen anerkannt
sind, als Revisionsstelle im Sinne von Art. 727 ff. OR.

IV.  Jahresrechnung und Gewinnverteilung

Artikel 18

Die Jahresrechnung wird jeweils auf den vom Verwaltungsrat bestimmten Ter-
min abgeschlossen.

Der Verwaltungsrat erstellt fiir jedes Geschifisjahr einen Geschiftsbericht, wel-
cher sich aus Jahresrechnung, Jahresbericht und, wo ndtig, Konzernrechnung zu-
sammensetzt.

Artikel 19

Unter Vorbehalt der gesetzlichen Vorschriften iiber die Gewinnverteilung, insbe-
sondere Art. 671 ff. OR, steht der Bilanzgewinn zur Verfligung der Generalver-
sammlung.

V. Auflésung und Liquidation

Artikel 20

15 NOV

. 2019
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Die Generalversammlung kann jederzeit die Auflésung und Liquidation der Ge-
sellschaft nach Massgabe der gesetzlichen und statutarischen Vorschriften be-
schliessen.

Die Liquidation wird durch den Verwaltungsrat durchgefihrt, sofern sie nicht
durch die Generalversammlung anderen Personen {ibertragen wird.

Die Liquidation der Gesellschaft erfolgt nach Massgabe der Art. 742 ff. OR. Die
Liquidatoren sind erméchtigt, Aktiven (Grundstiicke eingeschlossen) auch frei-
héndig zu verkaufen.

Nach erfolgter Tilgung der Schulden wird das Vermdgen unter die Aktionére
nach Massgabe der eingezahlten Betrdge verteilt.

VI.  Mitteilungen und Bekanntmachungen

Artikel 21

Einberufungen und Mitteilungen an die Aktiondre erfolgen durch Brief an die im
Aktienbuch verzeichneten Adressen.

Bekanntmachungen an die Glaubiger erfolgen in den vom Gesetz vorgeschriebe-
nen Fillen durch Verdffentlichung im Schweizerischen Handelsamtsblatt, dem
Publikationsorgan der Gesellschaft.

V1I. Sacheinlagen

Artikel 22

Die Gesellschaft ibernimmt vom nicht im Handelsregister eingetragenen Verein
Schweizerische Effektenbérse, in Ziirich, 1'000'000 Namenaktien zu Fr. 10.00
der SWX Swiss Exchange, in Ziirich, im Wert und Preis von Fr. 258°977'400.00,
wofir der Sacheinlegerin 9'900 als voll liberiert geltende Aktien der Gesellschatt
zu Fr. 1'000.00 zukommen.

JOSE MIGUEL BAENA VALBUENA
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Artikel 23

Die Gesellschaft tibernimmt gemiss Sacheinlagevertrigen, alle datierend zwi-
schen 20. Oktober 2007 und 20. November 2007, von den Aktiondren der SIS
Swiss Financial Services Group AG bzw. den Aktioniren der Telekurs Holding
AG auf dem Weg der Sacheinlage 260'000 Namenaktien der SIS Swiss Financial
Services Group AG a je nominal Fr. 100 und im Gesamtwert von Fr.
228'341'690 sowie 90'000 Namenaktien der Telekurs Holding AG 2 je nominal
Fr. 500 und im Gesamtwert von Fr. 315'928'250. Dafiir kommen den Sacheinle-
gem 9'521'905 voll liberierte Namenaktien der Gesellschaft mit einem Nennwert
von je Fr. 1.00 zu einem Gesamtausgabepreis in der Héhe von Fr. 544'269'940
Z,

Genehmigt anldsslich der Generalversammlung vom 19, September 2008

Zug, 19. September 2008
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Estatutos sociales

de

SIX Group AG
(SIX Group SA)
(SIX Group Ltd)

Cantén de Zurich
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| 8 Denominacién social, domicilio social, duracién y objeto social

Articulo 1

Con la denominacién social de

SIX Group AG
(SIX Group SA)
(SIX Group Ltd)

existe una sociedad anénima de conformidad con los articulos 620 y ss. del Obligationenrecht
(Derecho de Obligaciones —Libro V del Codigo Civil suizo—; en lo sucesivo, “OR”) con
domicilio social en Zurich. La Sociedad se ha constituido por tiempo indefinido.

Articulo 2

La Sociedad tiene por objeto, en cuanto comunidad de trabajo de las instituciones financieras
suizas, mantener y gestionar participaciones en empresas en los sectores bursatil, bancario, de
infraestructuras financieras y de servicios financieros participaciones de cualquier naturaleza.

La Sociedad podra establecer sucursales y filiales en el territorio nacional y en el extranjero y
podra participar en otras empresas ubicadas en el territorio nacional y en el extranjero, asi como
adquirir y constituir las mismas; podra adquirir, arrendar y vender inmuebles, adquirir y
explotar derechos de propiedad industrial y know-how.

La Sociedad podré desarrollar todas las actividades comerciales, financieras y de otra naturaleza
que estén vinculadas con el objeto de la Sociedad.

11 Capital social y acciones

Articulo 3

El capital social de la Sociedad asciende a 19.521.905 CHF y esta dividido en 19.521.905
acciones nominativas con un valor nominal de 1,00 CHF cada una. Las acciones estan
integramente desembolsadas.



Articulo 4

Las acciones de la Sociedad seran titulizadas como titulos a la orden. Estard excluida la
transmision de las acciones titulizadas mediante cesion.

Mediante modificacién estatutaria, la Junta General de Accionistas podra transformar en todo
momento las acciones nominativas en acciones al portador o bien las acciones al portador en
acciones nominativas.

Articulo 5

El Consejo de Administracion llevara un libro-registro de acciones en el que se inscribirdn los
titulares y usufructuarios de las mismas con su nombre y direccién. Frente a la Sociedad se
reconocera Unicamente como accionista o como usufructuario a quien esté inscrito en el libro-
registro de acciones.

La transmisién de acciones requerird en cualquier caso la autorizacién del Consejo de
Administracién. Este consentimiento podré ser denegado por justa causa, sin perjuicio de lo
dispuesto en el articulo 685b, apartado 4, del OR.

Se entendera que concurre justa causa:

L. en el caso de que el adquirente no esté admitido como operador en la SWX Swiss
Exchange (Bolsa Suiza) ni esté autorizado a operar como banco de conformidad con la
Bankengesetz (Ley de bancos suiza);

2, s1 el porcentaje (consolidado) del adquirente en el capital social emitido supera su tasa
porcentual de uso (media del volumen de negocios de los ultimos tres ejercicios) en mas
del 10 % (en proporci6n a la tasa porcentual de uso);

3. en el caso de que el adquirente sea un competidor directo o indirecto de la Sociedad o
de sus filiales o bien mantenga una participacion significativa (es decir, con un
porcentaje de cuando menos el 30 %) en el capital de un competidor. Se considerara que
la actividad usual de bancos y gestores de valores no es una actividad que entra en

competencia;

4, el mantenimiento de la Sociedad como empresa econdmicamente auténoma, en
particular cuando la Sociedad se halla bajo el control de un grupo de sociedades;

5. en el caso de que la transmisién pudiera impedir a la Sociedad o a sus filiales (i) la

aportacion de las pruebas exigidas por las leyes federales suizas, en particular por la Ley
de bancos y la Borsengesetz (Ley de la Bolsa), relativas a la composicién del
accionariado, o (ii) aportar tales pruebas cuando son exigidas por leyes de supervisién
extranjeras andlogas (por ejemplo, el requisito de garantias de honorabilidad de
accionistas significativos e indirectos de una filial de la Sociedad);

6. si el adquirente no declara expresamente que es el beneficiario econémico de las
acciones, esto es, que ha adquirido y posee las acciones en nombre propio y por cuenta
propia.



El consentimiento podré denegarse sin que se requiera la indicacién de motivos, siempre que el
Consejo de Administracion ofrezca adquirir las acciones (por cuenta de la Sociedad, de
determinados accionistas o de terceros) por su valor efectivo en la fecha de Ia solicitud.

El Consejo de Administraciéon podré adoptar un reglamento vinculante en el que podra
especificar los motivos de denegacion antes mencionados, determinar las modalidades y aclarar
cuestiones de interpretacion (en particular las relativas a la determinacién de la tasa porcentual
de uso, el tratamiento de los grupos de sociedades, la determinacién de los competidores, etc.).
Todo accionista y cualquier otra persona que acredite un interés legitimo tendrd derecho a
consultar este reglamento.

Una vez oidas las personas interesadas, la sociedad podra cancelar inscripciones en el libro-

registro de acciones cuando estas se hayan efectuado sobre la base de datos falsos o engafiosos
del adquiriente. El adquirente debera ser informado de inmediato de tal cancelacion.

1I1. Organizacién de la Sociedad

Articulo 6
Los 6rganos de la Sociedad son:
A, Junta General de Accionistas

Consejo de Administracion
G Organo de Auditoria

=

A. Junta General de Accionistas
Articulo 7

El érgano superior de la Sociedad es la Junta General de Accionistas. Le corresponderan las
siguientes competencias, que no podran ser objeto de delegacién:

1. otorgar y modificar los estatutos sociales;

2. nombrar y separar a los miembros del Consejo de Administracién y del Organo de
Auditoria;
3. aprobar el informe de gestion anual, el balance y el balance consolidado, asi como

decidir sobre la aplicacion del resultado, y en particular sobre la fijacién del importe de
los dividendos;
4. aprobar la gestion de los miembros del Consejo de Administracioén;



3. adoptar acuerdos sobre los asuntos que estén reservados a la Junta General de
Accionistas por la ley o por los estatutos sociales o bien que le sean presentados por el
Consejo de Administracion.

Articulo 8

La Junta General Ordinaria de Accionistas se reunird cada afio dentro de los seis meses
siguientes al cierre del ejercicio econdmico anterior.

Se convocaran Juntas Generales Extraordinarias de Accionistas cuantas veces sea necesario, en
particular en los casos previstos por la ley.

El Consejo de Administracion deberd convocar las Juntas Generales Extraordinarias de
Accionistas cuando asi lo exijan accionistas que representen cuando menos un 10 % del capital
social exijan una convocatoria por escrito en la que se hara mencién de los asuntos del orden del
dia y de las solicitudes.

Articulo 9

La Junta General de Accionistas serd convocada por el Consejo de Administracién y, de ser
necesario, por el Organo de Auditoria. Este derecho de convocatoria correspondera también a
los liquidadores.

La Junta General de Accionistas ser4 convocada mediante escrito dirigido a los accionistas
cuando menos veinte dias antes de la fecha de celebracién de la misma. En la convocatoria
deberan indicarse los asuntos del orden del dia, asi como las solicitudes del Consejo de
Administracién y de los accionistas que hayan exigido la celebracién de una Junta General de
Accionistas o que se delibere sobre un asunto concreto.

Sobre los asuntos que no hayan sido anunciados de este modo, no podran adoptarse acuerdos,
sin perjuicio de las disposiciones aplicables a las juntas universales, salvo en el caso de
presentacion de una solicitud de convocatoria de una Junta General Extraordinaria de
Accionistas o de realizacién de una auditoria especial. En cambio, no se requerird un anuncio
previo para la presentacion de solicitudes en el marco de los asuntos del orden del dia ni sobre
deliberaciones sin adopcion de acuerdos.

Los titulares o representantes de todas las acciones podran celebrar una Junta General de
Accionistas sin que se observan los requisitos formales prescritos para la convocatoria en el
caso de que no se formule objecion al respecto (junta universal). Siempre que estén presentes
los titulares o representantes de todas las acciones, en esta junta podré deliberarse sobre todos
los asuntos comprendidos en el 4mbito de competencias de la Junta General de Accionistas y
adoptarse acuerdos validos.



A mas tardar veinte dias antes de la celebracién de la Junta General Ordinaria de Accionistas
deberén estar depositados el informe de gestion y el informe de auditoria en el domicilio de la
Sociedad para su consulta por los accionistas. En la convocatoria de la Junta General de
Accionistas debera hacerse una indicacién a este respecto.

Articulo 10

La presidencia de la Junta General de Accionistas sera ocupada por el presidente y, en caso de
hallarse este impedido, por otro miembro del Consejo de Administracién o por otro presidente
de la sesién que elija la Junta General de Accionistas.

El presidente designaré al actuario y a los escrutadores, que no tendran que ser necesariamente
accionistas.

El Consejo de Administracién velara por la llevanza de las actas, que deberan estar firmadas por
el presidente y por el actuario.

Articulo 11
Cada accion da derecho a un voto.

Todo accionista podra hacerse representar en la Junta General de Accionistas por otra persona,
que deberd acreditarse mediante un poder por escrito. El representante no tendra que ser
necesariamente accionista.

La Junta General de Accionistas adoptard sus acuerdos y realizard sus elecciones mediante
mayoria absoluta de las acciones con derecho de voto representadas, siempre que la ley o los
estatutos no establezcan disposiciones en sentido contrario.

El voto del presidente tendra carécter dirimente.
Las elecciones y votaciones se realizaran de forma abierta, a menos que el presidente o uno de
los accionistas exija que se realicen en secreto.

Articulo 12
Se requerira como complemento a las disposiciones legales en materia de quorum establecidas
en el articulo 704, apartado 1, del OR un acuerdo de la Junta General de Accionistas adoptado
por cuando menos las dos terceras partes de las acciones con derecho de voto representadas y

por mayoria absoluta del valor nominal total de las acciones representadas para:

L, simplificar o eliminar la limitacién a la transmisibilidad de las acciones nominativas;
2 la conversion de acciones nominativas en acciones al portador;



3. la disolucién de la Sociedad con liquidacién, y
4, la modificacion del presente articulo.
B. Consejo de Administracion

Articulo 13

El Consejo de Administracion estara formado por entre tres a diez miembros. Sera elegido para
un periodo de tres afios. El mandato de los miembros del Consejo de Administracion finalizara
el dia en que se celebre la siguiente Junta General Ordinaria de Accionistas. Queda reservada la
posibilidad de la dimisién o separacién previas del cargo. Los nuevos miembros ocuparan el
cargo durante el periodo restante del mandato del miembro al que sustituyan. Los miembros del
Consejo de Administracion podran ser reelegidos en todo momento.

El Consejo de Administracion se constituird por si mismo. Nombrard a un secretario, que no
tendra que ser necesariamente miembro del Consejo de Administracion.

Articulo 14

Correspondera al Consejo de Administracion la direccién general de la Sociedad y la
supervision y control de la gestion. Se ocupara de todos los asuntos que no estén atribuidos a
otro 6rgano de la Sociedad por la ley, los estatutos sociales o por reglamento.

El Consejo de Administracion podrd delegar la gestién en los términos del reglamento de
organizacion interna a determinados miembros del mismo o a terceros.

Incumbiran al Consejo de Administracién las siguientes funciones, no delegables e inalienables:

la direccién general de la Sociedad e impartir las instrucciones necesarias;

adoptar los reglamentos necesarios;

configurar la contabilidad, el control financiero y la planificacién financiera;

nombrar y separar a las personas a las que se confie la gestién y la representacion de la

Sociedad, asi como regular la facultad de firma;

3. la supervisién general de todas las personas a las que se confia la gestidn, en particular
en lo relativo a la observancia de las leyes, los estatutos sociales, los reglamentos y sus
instrucciones;

6. formular las cuentas anuales y preparar la Junta General de Accionistas, asi como
ejecutar sus acuerdos, y

7. notificar a los tribunales la situacién de sobreendeudamiento de la Sociedad.

il -



El Consejo de Administracién podra delegar en comités o miembros concretos la preparacion y
ejecucion de sus acuerdos, tareas determinadas de supervisién Y, siempre que no se trate de
competencias no delegables, diversas facultades de decisioén. Velara por que sus miembros sean
adecuadamente informados de todas estas actividades.
El Consejo de Administracion adoptard un reglamento de régimen interno que regulara todos los
aspectos necesarios para su organizacion.

Articulo 15
La regulacién de la presidencia, el quérum (asistencia de sus miembros) y la adopcién de
acuerdos del Consejo de Administracién se regulardn mediante el reglamento de régimen
interno.
De las deliberaciones y acuerdos del Consejo de Administracién deber4 levantarse un acta. El
acta debera ser suscrita por el presidente y por el actuario.

Articulo 16
Los miembros del Consejo de Administracién tendran derecho al reembolso de los gastos que
efectien en interés de la Sociedad, asi como a una compensacion por su actividad que fijara el

propio Consejo de Administracién (sin perjuicio de su delegacién en los términos del
articulo 14, apartado 4, de los estatutos sociales).

C. Organo de Auditoria

Articulo 17

La Junta General de Accionistas elegira cada afio a una o varias personas fisicas o juridicas
facultadas para la realizacion de auditorias conforme a la normativa bancaria y bursatil, como
Organo de Auditoria en el sentido de los articulos 727 y ss. del OR.

Iv. Cuentas anuales y aplicacién del resultado

Articulo 18

El balance se cerraré en cada ejercicio en la fecha que fije el Consejo de Administracién.



El Consejo de Administracién formulard, respecto a cada ejercicio, las cuentas anuales, que
estaran compuestas por el balance, el informe de gestion y, de ser necesario, el balance
consolidado.

Articulo 19
Sin perjuicio de las disposiciones legales en materia de aplicacién de resultado, en particular de

los articulos 671 y ss. del OR, el resultado positivo del gjercicio quedara a disposicién de la
Junta General de Accionistas.

V. Disolucién y liquidacién

Articulo 20

La Junta General de Accionistas podrd acordar en cualquier momento la disolucién y
liquidacién de la Sociedad en los términos de las disposiciones legales y estatutarias.

La liquidacién seré realizada por el Consejo de Administracion, siempre que no sea delegada
por la Junta General de Accionistas en otras personas.

La liquidacion de la Sociedad se efectuars en los términos de los articulos 742 y ss. del OR. Los
liquidadores estaran facultados para vender libremente los activos (incluidos los inmuebles).

Una vez satisfechas las deudas, el patrimonio resultante se distribuird entre los accionistas en
proporeion a las aportaciones desembolsadas.

VL Notificaciones y comunicaciones

Articulo 21

Las convocatorias y notificaciones a los accionistas se efectuaran por escrito enviado a las
direcciones indicadas en el nimero registro de acciones,

Las comunicaciones dirigidas a los acreedores se realizardn, en los casos escritos por la ley,
mediante su publicacién en el Schweizerisches Handelsamtsblatt (Boletin Comercial Oficial
Suizo), el boletin oficial de publicaciones de la Sociedad.
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VIL.  Aportaciones no dinerarias

Articulo 22

La Sociedad adquiere de Verein Schweizerischer Effektenbérse (Asociacion de la Bolsa Suiza),
con domicilio en Zurich, no inscrita en el Registro Mercantil, 1.000.000 de acciones
nominativas con un valor nominal 10,00 CHF cada una, de SWX Swiss Exchange, con
domicilio social en Zurich, por un valor y precio de 258.977.400.00 CHF, en contraprestacion
de lo cual se entregari a la entidad que realiza esta aportacién no dineraria 9.900 acciones de la
Sociedad, que se entenderin integramente desembolsadas, €on un valor nominal de
1.000,00 CHF cada una.

Articulo 23

La Sociedad adquirird en virtud de diversos contratos de aportaciones no dinerarias, todos
datados entre el 20 de octubre de 2007 y el 20 de noviembre de 2007, de los accionistas de SIS
Swiss Financial Services Group AG o, en su caso, de los accionistas de Telekurs Holding AG,
mediante aportacién no dineraria, 260.000 acciones nominativas de SIS Swiss Financial
Services Group AG con un valor nominal de 100,00 CHF Y con un valor total de
228.341.690 CHF, asi como 90.000 acciones nominativas de Telekurs Holding AG con un valor
nominal de 500 CHF cada una Yy un valor total de 315.928.250 CHF. En contraprestacion, las
entidades que realizan estas aportaciones no dinerarias recibirdn 9.521.905 acciones
nominativas de la Sociedad integramente desembolsadas con un valor nominal de 1,00 CHF
cada una por un precio total de suscripcion por importe de 544.269.940 CHF.

Autorizado en el marco de la Junta General de Accionistas de 19 de septiembre de 2008,
Zug, 19 de septiembre de 2008
[firma ilegible]

[sello: THOMAS STOLTZ, ZUG » Abogado — Fedatario]
[firma ilegible]
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Certificacién oficial

La presente copia en papel concuerda en su integridad o, en su Caso, extractadamente con el
original en papel depositado en la Oficina de] Registro Mercantil del Cantén de Zurich.

[sello: Cantén de Zirich — Oficina del Registro Mercantil]

Zurich, 6 de noviembre de 2019 Oficina del Registro Mercantil
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[firma ilegible]
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ANEXO 4

Estados financieros consolidados y auditados de SIX Group AG y las sociedades de su
grupo, correspondientes al ejercicio social cerrado a 31 de diciembre de 2019
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Building a better CH-8010 Zurich
working world

To the General Meeting of

SIX Group Ltd, Zurich

Zurich, 13 March 2020

Statutory auditor’s report on the audit of the consolidated financial
statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of SIX Group Ltd and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2019 and
the consolidated income statement, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated
financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2019, and its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and comply with Swiss law.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Swiss law, International Standards on Auditing (ISAs) and
Swiss Auditing Standards. Our responsibilities under those provisions and standards are further
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of
our report.

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the provisions of Swiss law and the requirements
of the Swiss audit profession, as well as the IESBA Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants, and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion.

Other information in the annual report

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other information in the annual report. The other information
comprises all information included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements, the stand-alone financial statements and our auditor’s reports thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information in the annual
report and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the
other information in the annual report and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
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or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibility of the Board of Directors for the consolidated financial statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that
give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the provisions of Swiss law, and for such internal
control as the Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either intends to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and Swiss Auditing Standards will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements is
located at the website of EXPERTSsuisse: http://www.expertsuisse.ch/en/audit-report-for-public-
companies. This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

In accordance with article 728a para. 1 item 3 CO and the Swiss Auditing Standard 890, we confirm that
an internal control system exists, which has been designed for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements according to the instructions of the Board of Directors.

We recommend that the consolidated financial statements submitted to you be approved.

Ernst & Young Ltd

Jan Marxfeld Slaven Cosic
Licensed audit expert Licensed audit expert
(Auditor in charge)

Enclosure
» Consolidated financial statements (income statement, statement of comprehensive income, balance
sheet, statement of changes in equity, statement of cash flows and notes)
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Consolidated Income Statement

CHF million Notes” 2019 2018
restated’

Transaction revenues 524.0 520.0
Service revenues 539.6 544.3
Net interestincome from interest margin business 6 53.1 34.1
Other operating income 13.1 17.5
Total operating income 5 1,129.7 1,115.8
Employee benefit expenses 7,35 -473.0 -470.9
Other operating expenses 8 -443.2 -440.5
Total operating expenses -916.2 -911.3
Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization (EBITDA) 213.5 204.5
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 20, 21 -90.1 -67.0
Operating profit 123.5 137.5
Financial income 9 2333 37.9
Financial expenses 9 -258.4 -33.9
Share of profit or loss of associates 30 69.6 -6.4
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 168.0 135.0
Interestincome 10 3.5 3.7
Interest expenses 10 -11.1 -6.3
Earnings before tax (EBT) 160.3 132.3
Income tax expenses 12 -39.8 -37.4
Profit for the period from continuing operations 120.5 95.0
Profit for the period from discontinued operations, net of tax 18 - 2,7817.7
Group net profit 120.5 2,882.7
of which attributable to shareholders of SIX Group Ltd 120.4 2,881.8
of which attributable to non-controlling interests 0.1 0.9

Earnings per share (CHF)
Basic profit for the period attributable to shareholders of SIX Group Ltd " 6.37 152.36
Diluted profit for the period attributable to shareholders of SIX Group Ltd 6.37 152.36

Earnings per share (CHF) - continuing operations

Basic profit for the period from continuing operations attributable to shareholders of " 6.37 4.97
SIX Group Ltd
Diluted profit for the period from continuing operations attributable to shareholders of 6.37 4.97
SIX Group Ltd

“ The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

" The presentation of the consolidated income statement has been voluntarily changed. The prior year's figures have been restated accordingly. See note 2 (under 2.3.1
“Voluntary change in presentation of the consolidated income statement”) for further information.
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Consolidated Statement
of Comprehensive Income

CHF million Notes 2019 2018
Group net profit 120.5 2,882.7
Change in actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans recognized in the reporting period 35 57.5 -37.3
Income taxes on changes in actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefit plans 13 -10.7 7.9
Share of other comprehensive income of associates =33 -
Total items that will not be reclassified to income statement 43.4 -29.5
Translation adjustment of foreign operations recognized in the reporting period -7.8 -5.9
Accumulated translation adjustments of foreign operations reclassified to income statement - 11.2
Translation adjustment of associates recognized in the reporting period -92.2 -
Accumulated translation adjustments of associates reclassified to income statement 23.5 -
Share of other comprehensive income of associates 20.3 -22.6
Accumulated share of other comprehensive income of associates reclassified to income statement -3.8 -
Total items that are or may subsequently be reclassified to income statement -60.0 -17.4
Total other comprehensive income, net of tax -16.6 -46.9
Total comprehensive income for the period 103.9 2,835.8

of which attributable to shareholders of SIX Group Ltd 103.8 2,835.0

of which attributable to non-controlling interests 0.1 0.8

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

CHF million Notes” 31/12/2019 31/12/2018
restated’
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 14 3,805.2 5,496.9
Trade and other receivables 15 141.5 130.6
Receivables from clearing & settlement 16 2,695.8 2,699.6
Financial assets 17,27, 28 709.5 823.8
Current income tax receivables 12 24.4 23.7
Other current assets 19 113.5 96.1
Current assets 7,489.8 9,270.7
Property, plant and equipment 20 390.3 2431
Intangible assets 21 133.5 116.0
Investments in associates 30 1,959.5 2,656.1
Financial assets 17,27,28 2,654.7 354.0
Other non-current assets 19 22.0 16.6
Deferred tax assets 13 6.8 14.6
Non-current assets 5,166.7 3,400.5
Total assets 12,656.5 12,671.2
Liabilities
Bank overdrafts 14 0.7 -
Trade and other payables 24.4 25.2
Payables from clearing & settlement 16 71173 6,725.4
Financial liahilities 17,27, 28 75.8 110.1
Provisions 24 1.5 5.0
Contract liabilities 5 23.8 29.0
Currentincome tax payables 12 21.2 27.5
Other current liabilities 25 202.0 207.2
Current liabilities 7,472.5 7,129.4
Financial liabilities 17,27,28 247.4 -
Provisions 24 12.5 14.0
Contract liabilities 5 40.4 50.4
Other non-current liabilities 25 27.9 771
Deferred tax liabilities 13 24.3 27.3
Non-current liabilities 352.6 168.8
Total liabilities 7,825.1 7,298.2
Equity
Share capital 19.5 19.5
Capital reserves 2341 2341
Other reserves -130.5 -54.0
Retained earnings 4,707.3 5,163.9
Shareholders’ equity 23 4,830.4 5,363.5
Non-controlling interests 30 1.0 9.5
Total equity 4,831.4 5,373.0
Total liabilities and equity 12,656.5 12,671.2

" The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
' See note 2 (under 2.3.2 “Change in existing accounting policies - listing fees”) for further information on the restatement.
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Consolidated Statement

of Changes in Equity

CHF million Notes Share capital Capital reserves Other reserves
Balance at 1 January 2019 19.5 2341 -54.0
Changes in accounting policies through adoption of new standards’

Adjusted balance at 1 January 2019 19.5 23441 -54.0
Group net profit

Total other comprehensive income -76.5
Total comprehensive income for the year -76.5
Dividends paid 22

Share of other changes in equity of associates 30

Acquisition of non-controlling interests 30

Balance at 31 December 2019 19.5 23441 -130.5
CHF million Notes Share capital Capital reserves Other reserves
Balance at 1 January 2018 19.5 23441 -36.6
Changes in existing accounting policies (restatement)?

Adjusted balance at 1 January 2018 19.5 23441 -36.6
Group net profit

Total other comprehensive income -17.4
Total comprehensive income for the year -17.4
Dividends paid 22

Balance at 31 December 2018 19.5 23441 -54.0

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
! See note 2 (under 2.3.3 “IFRS 16 Leases”) for further information on the changes in accounting policies.
2 See note 2 (under 2.3.2 “Change in existing accounting policies - listing fees”) for further information on the restatement.
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Non-controlling

Treasury shares Translation reserves Retained earnings Shareholders’ equity interests Total equity

-23.3 -30.7 5,163.9 5,363.5 9.5 5,373.0

-3.8 -3.8 =38

-23.3 -30.7 5,160.1 5,359.7 9.5 5,369.3

120.4 120.4 0.1 120.5

-76.5 59.9 -16.6 -0.0 -16.6

-76.5 180.3 103.8 0.1 103.9

-404.8 -404.8 -1.0 -405.8

-224.1 -224.1 -224.1

-4.3 -4.3 =76 -11.9

-23.3 -107.2 4,707.3 4,830.4 1.0 4,831.4

Other reserves

Non-controlling

Treasury shares Translation reserves Retained earnings Shareholders’ equity interests Total equity

-23.3 -13.3 2,455.8 2,672.8 9.9 2,682.7

-12.0 -12.0 -12.0

-23.3 -13.3 2,443.8 2,660.8 9.9 2,670.7

2,881.8 2,881.8 0.9 2,882.7

-17.4 -29.3 -46.7 -0.2 -46.9

-17.4 2,852.4 2,835.0 0.8 2,835.8

-132.4 -132.4 -1.1 -133.5

-23.3 -30.7 5,163.9 5,363.5 9.5 5,373.0
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Consolidated Statement

of Cash Flows

CHF million Notes” 2019 2018
Group net profit (incl. non-controlling interests) 120.5 2,882.7
Adjustments for:
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 20, 21 90.1 76.9
Increase/(decrease) in provisions -4.8 -23.8
Increase/(decrease) in pension fund assets and liabilities 7.6 13.5
Share of profit or loss of associates 30 -69.6 6.4
Net financial result 80.9 -2,683.3
(Gain)/loss on sale of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets -0.1 2.0
Income tax expense 12 39.8 61.0
Changes in:
Inventories - -0.5
Trade and other receivables -11.5 36.5
Trade and other payables -0.7 -122.7
Receivables from clearing & settlement 4.7 230.8
Payables from clearing & settlement -1,279.9 619.6
Financial assets 127.4 -52.4
Financial liabilities 4.4 160.9
Other assets -9.7 45.2
Other liabilities -15.2 95.8
Contract liabilities -14.0 36.4
Interest paid -10.7 -6.4
Interest received 3.4 4.0
Income tax (paid)/received 12 -57.1 -90.6
Net cash flow from/(used in) operating activities -994.6 1,292.1
Investments in subsidiaries (net of cash acquired) 31 -172.3 -
Investments in associates -2.4 =371
Disposal of subsidiaries and associates (net of cash disposed) - 20.0
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangible assets -74.0 -73.6
Sale proceeds from property, plant, equipment and intangible assets 0.3 0.9
Investments in financial assets -6.7 =71
Divestments of financial assets 433 22.0
Investments in other assets - -0.6
Divestments of other assets - 3.0
Dividends received and other financial income 6.5 8.7
Net cash flow from/(used in) investing activities -205.4 -63.6
Payment of financial liabilities -9.9 -
Payment of lease liabilities’ -12.0 -
Net change in other liabilities - -0.2
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 30 -11.9 -
Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent company 22 -404.8 -132.4
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests -1.0 -1.1
Net cash flow from/(used in) financing activities -439.6 -133.7
Net impact of foreign exchange rate differences on cash -52.7 -59.4
Net change in cash and cash equivalents -1,692.3 1,035.3
Balances of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 5,496.9 4,461.5
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 14 3,804.5 5,496.9

* The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
' See note 2 (under 2.3.3 “IFRS 16 Leases”) for further information on the changes in accounting policies.
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Basis of Preparation

1. General Information

The consolidated financial statements of SIX as at and
for the year ended 31 December 2019 cover SIX
Group Ltd (referred to as “Company” or “Parent
Company”) and its subsidiaries (together referred to
as “Group” or “SIX"). A table of the Group subsidiaries
and interests in associates is set out in note 30.

SIX Group Ltd is an unlisted public limited company
domiciled in Switzerland with its registered office in
Zurich, at Hardturmstrasse 201. The Company is owned
by 122 national and international financial institutions.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of SIX have
been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The reporting period covers twelve months. For all con-
solidated companies, the financial year corresponds
to the calendar year. Unless otherwise indicated, all
amounts are stated in millions of Swiss francs (CHF)
and all values are rounded to the nearest hundred
thousand.

The consolidated financial statements provide compar-
ative information in respect of the previous period.

The SIX consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain
financial instruments which have been measured at fair
value, as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

2.2 Summary of significant accounting policies
2.2.1 Principles of consolidation and equity
accounting

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for using the ac-
quisition method at the date of acquisition, which is the
date on which SIX obtains control. SIX has control over
an investee when it is exposed or has rights to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has

SIX provides a comprehensive range of services in
the areas of securities trading and post-trading,
financial information processing and cashless payment
transactions.

The Board of Directors of SIX approved the issuance
of these consolidated financial statements on
12 March 2020.

the ability to affect those returns through its power
over the relevant activities of the investee.

At the time of acquisition, all identifiable assets and
liabilities that satisfy the recognition criteria are rec-
ognized at their fair values. The difference between the
consideration transferred and the fair value of the
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed is
accounted for as goodwill after taking into account any
non-controlling interests. Directly attributable trans-
action costs are reported as other operating expenses.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of
acquisition and continue to be consolidated until the
date when control ceases.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are pre-
pared for the same reporting period as the parent
company, using consistent accounting policies. All
intra-Group balances, transactions, any unrealized
gains and losses resulting from intra-Group trans-
actions and dividends are eliminated in full.

Non-controlling interests arise when SIX Group Ltd di-
rectly or indirectly holds less than 100% of a subsidiary,
but still controls the subsidiary. Non-controlling inter-
ests in subsidiaries are reported separately within
equity. Profit or loss and other comprehensive income
(OCI) are attributed to the shareholders of the parent
and to the non-controlling interests.
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Upon loss of control, SIX ceases to recognize the assets
and liabilities of a subsidiary, any non-controlling inter-
ests and the other components of equity related to the
subsidiary. Any gain or loss arising on the loss of con-
trol is presented in financial income or financial
expenses or in case of discontinued operations the
gain or loss is presented in profit for the period of dis-
continued operations, net of tax. Contingent payments
are initially recognized at fair value and subsequently
re-measured at fair value. The interest retained is
measured at fair value at the date when control has no
longer effect. Subsequently, it is accounted for as an
investment in associate using the equity method or as
a financial asset, depending on the level of influence
retained.

Investments in associates

Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method. Associates are those entities where SIX
has significant influence over the financial and operat-
ing policies but does not exercise control. Significant
influence is generally assumed to exist whenever vot-
ing rights ranging between 20% and 50% are held. In
case the Group holds less than 20% of voting rights,
there is a strong indicator for significant influence if
SIX has representation in the Board of the investee.
Under the equity method, investments in associates
are initially recognized at cost at the date of acquisition.
Cost comprises the amount of cash and cash equiva-
lents paid or the fair value of the other consideration
transferred and acquisition related costs. In sub-
sequent accounting periods, the carrying amount of
the investment is adjusted by the share of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income, the share of other
changes in equity less dividends received. The share of
profit or loss is adjusted by effects from subsequent
measurement of assets and liabilities identified in a
purchase price allocation.

Gains or losses resulting from the sale or contribution
of a business as defined in IFRS 3 between SIX and an
associate are recognized in full.

2.2.2 Foreign currency translation

Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Swiss francs, which is also the functional currency of
SIX Group Ltd. Each subsidiary prepares its own finan-
cial statements in its functional currency, i.e. in the
currency of the primary economic environment in
which it operates.

Foreign currency transactions and balances
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded
by the Group’s entities in their respective functional
currencies using the exchange rates prevailing at the
dates of the transactions.

Exchange rate gains and losses arising between the
date of a transaction and its settlement and from the
translation of monetary assets and liabilities denomi-
nated in foreign currencies at closing exchange rates
are recognized in the income statement within finan-
cial income or expenses.

Non-monetary items recognized at historical cost are
measured at the historical exchange rates, while non-
monetary items that are measured at fair value in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates
at the date when the fair value was determined. Foreign
exchange gains and losses are recorded in the income
statement within financial income or expenses.

The main exchange rates at the closing dates were the
following:

Currency 31/12/2019 31/12/2018
EUR 1.0846 1.1259
GBP 1.2693 1.2497
usb 0.9678 0.9853

The main annual average exchange rates were the
following:

Currency 2019 2018
EUR 1.1128 1.1550
GBP 1.2693 1.3055
usb 0.9937 0.9779




Foreign operations

The income statements of subsidiaries with a func-
tional currency other than the Swiss franc are
translated at the monthly average exchange rates.
Assets and liabilities, including goodwill and fair value
adjustments arising on acquisition, are translated at
the closing exchange rate. Foreign exchange trans-
lation differences arerecognized as currency translation
adjustments in other comprehensive income and
presented in equity under other reserves. On the loss
of control of a subsidiary, the accumulated exchange
rate differences previously recognized in equity are re-
classified to the income statement as part of the gain
or loss on disposal.

2.2.3 Financial assets

General criteria

Financial assets are generally recognized at the trade
date. Non-fulfilled transactions from the clearing busi-
ness of Securities Services are recognized at the
settlement date.

SIX classifies its financial assets either as financial
assets at amortized cost or financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss (FVtPL). The classification
depends on the business model of SIX for managing
the financial assets and the contractual cash flow
characteristics of the financial assets.

Financial assets are classified as current if payment is
due or expected to be settled within one year. If not,
they are presented as non-current.

Financial assets at amortized cost

A financial asset is carried at amortized cost if both of
the following criteria are met: a) the financial asset is
held within a business model whose objective is to hold
these assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
and b) the contractual terms of the financial asset give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely pay-
ments of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets measured at amortized cost are ini-
tially recognized at fair value plus directly attributable
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
they are measured at amortized cost using the effec-
tive interest method less expected impairment losses.
Gains or losses are recognized in the income statement
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when the financial asset is derecognized, modified or
impaired. This category consists of cash and cash
equivalents, deposits, receivables, bonds and loans.
Specific characteristics of each class of financial assets
at amortized cost are provided below, if any.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, postal
and bank accounts, giro and demand deposits at the
Swiss National Bank or central banks, deposits held at
call with banks and short-term deposits with a maxi-
mum maturity of three months from the date of initial
recognition.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and
short-term deposits as defined above, net of bank
overdrafts, if any.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables represent the Group's un-
conditional right of payment. The position also includes
unbilled receivables, i.e. positions where the Group has
fulfilled its performance obligations for services, but
the customers have not been invoiced yet and only the
passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Receivables and payables from clearing

& settlement

Beside the receivables and payables from clearing &
settlement incurred in the banking services business,
these also comprise vostro accounts of participants for
securities transactions and nostro accounts of SIX
Securities Services with cash correspondent banks,
sub-custodians and other central securities deposito-
ries. These vostro and nostro accounts are on sight.

Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost
The Group recognizes loss allowances for expected
credit losses (ECL) on the following financial assets that
are measured at amortized cost:

— Cash and cash equivalents

— Trade and other receivables

— Contract assets

- Bonds

— Receivables from clearing & settlement

- Other financial assets at amortized cost (e.g. loans)
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The Group measures the loss allowances at an amount
equal to 12-month ECL (Stage 1), except for the following
assets, for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECL (Stage 2):

— Trade and other receivables including operating
lease receivables (simplified approach according to
IFRS 9)

- Financial assets at amortized cost on which credit
risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition

When a default event occurs, the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL and the
financial assetis presented as credit-impaired (Stage 3).

The Group applies the “low credit risk” simplification in
order to track the increase in credit risk. A low credit
risk is assumed when the credit rating of a financial as-
set is equivalent to the globally understood definition
of “investment grade” (i.e. a Standard & Poor’s rating
of BBB - or higher).

The creation and release of loss allowances are recog-
nized in other operating expenses for cash and cash
equivalents, trade and other receivables, contract as-
sets and receivables from clearing & settlement. For
bonds and other financial assets at amortized cost, the
creation and release of loss allowance is presented in
financial expenses.

The amount of expected credit losses is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition of the respective financial as-
sets. Recoveries are recognized in profit and loss.

The Group writes off a financial asset when the collec-
tion activities are completed and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when
the Group receives evidence of insolvency (e.g. loss
certificate). Financial assets that are written off can still
be subject to enforcement activities even if recovery is
very unlikely.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
If either of the two criteria for financial assets at amor-
tized cost is not met, the financial asset is classified as
measured at fair value through profit or loss (FVtPL).
These financial assets are initially recognized at fair
value and subsequently re-measured at fair value.

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset are immediately ex-
pensed. Gains and losses arising from changes in
the fair value are reported in financial income or ex-
penses. This category consists of equity instruments,
units in investment funds, derivatives, financial instru-
ments from the settlement business of SIX and debt
instruments.

Derivatives

Apart from forward contracts from the clearing and
settlement business of Securities & Exchanges, this
category includes foreign currency forwards, swaps
and an equity collar. SIX uses derivatives to mitigate its
exposure to foreign exchange risks and in rare cases
the market risk exposure of investments in listed com-
panies. Derivatives are recognized initially and
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value. Gains or
losses relating to changes in fair value are recognized
immediately in financial income or expenses.

All derivatives are included under financial assets if
their fair value is positive, and under financial liabilities
if their fair value is negative.

Reverse repurchase agreements, securities
lending and borrowing

Securities purchased under agreements to resell
(reverse repurchase agreements) are generally treated
as collateralized financing transactions. In reverse
repurchase agreements, the cash delivered is derecog-
nized and a corresponding receivable is recorded in the
balance sheet. Securities received in a reverse repur-
chase agreement are disclosed in the notes if SIX has
the right to resell or repledge them.

Securities borrowing and lending transactions in the
settlement business are, similarly to reverse repur-
chase transactions, treated like collateralized
financing transactions if they are covered with cash
collateral and daily margin settlements. Securities
borrowing and lending transactions that are not cov-
ered with cash collateral are not recognized in the
balance sheet. Cash collateral received is recognized
with a corresponding obligation to return it, and cash
collateral delivered is derecognized with a corre-
sponding receivable. Both are carried at amortized
cost. Securities received in a lending or borrowing
transaction are disclosed in the notes if SIX has the



right to resell or repledge them. Financial assets
recognized in the balance sheet which have been
transferred under a securities lending agreement are
disclosed in the notes as financial assets not
derecognized.

Offsetting of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the balance sheet only when
thereis a current legally enforceable right to offset the
recognized amounts and there is an intention either to
settle on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle
the liability simultaneously.

Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognized when the contrac-
tual rights to receive cash flows have expired or when
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial
assets are substantially transferred.

2.2.4 Non-current assets held for sale and
discontinued operations

Non-current assets are presented as held for sale if
management is committed to a plan to sell an asset or
disposal group, itis highly probable that the sale will be
completed within one year of the date of the reclassifi-
cation, and the asset or disposal group is available for
immediate sale in its present condition. Such assets are
measured at the lower of their carrying amount and
fair value less costs to sell except for financial instru-
ments which are measured either at amortized cost or
fair value, depending on their classification. Costs to
sell are the incremental costs directly attributable to
the disposal, excluding finance costs and income tax
expense. Property, plant and equipment and intangi-
ble assets are not depreciated or amortized once
classified as held for sale.

A disposal group qualifies as a discontinued operation
if it is a component of an entity that either has been
disposed of, or is classified as held for sale, and repre-
sents a separate major line of business or geographical
area of operations, is part of a single coordinated plan
to dispose of a separate major line of business or geo-
graphical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired
exclusively with a view to resale.

Discontinued operations are excluded from the results
of continuing operations and are presented as a single
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amount as profit or loss after tax from discontinued
operations.

2.2.5 Property, plant and equipment

Assets included under property, plant and equipment
are measured at historical cost less accumulated
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Historical cost includes expenditure directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Repair and
maintenance costs are recognized in the income
statement as incurred.

Land has an unlimited useful life and is therefore not
depreciated. Property, plant and equipment is depreci-
ated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful
life of each component.

Asset class Estimated useful life
Land Impairment only
Buildings (excluding land) 8-60 years
Technical infrastructure 3-30 years

Amortized in line with the term
of the property lease

Leasehold improvements

IT mainframes 4 years
IT midrange 3years
IT other hardware 3-5years
Office equipment and furniture 3-7 years
Other fixed assets 3-5years

Depreciation starts when the asset is available for use.

The assets’ useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

Gains or losses on disposals are calculated as the dif-
ference between the net proceeds and the carrying
amount and are recognized in the income statement.

2.2.6 Intangible assets

Goodwill

SIX measures goodwill at the acquisition date at
cost (see also business combinations). Subsequently,
goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impair-
ment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment on an
annual basis and in addition when indicators of impair-
ment exist. Gains and losses on the disposal of an
operation include the carrying amount of goodwill
relating to the operation sold.
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In respect of investments in associates, the carrying
amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount
of the investment and any impairment loss is allocated
to the carrying amount of the equity-accounted inves-
tee as a whole.

Other intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by SIX and have a
finite useful life are measured at cost less accumulated
amortization and impairment losses. Subsequent ex-
penditure is capitalized only when it increases the
future economic benefits embodied in the specific
asset it relates to. Other subsequent expenditure is
recognized as an expense in the period in which it is
incurred.

Expenditure for internally developed software is capi-
talized only if it satisfies the capitalization criteria. This
requires in particular that the product is technically
and commercially feasible and the future economic
benefits are probable. Research costs are expensed as
incurred.

Amortization of internally developed assets starts
when they are available for use. This is in general when
the business acceptance test has successfully been
completed.

Intangible assets with a finite useful life are amortized
on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives:

Asset class Estimated useful life
Licenses, brands and customer relationships 5-20 years
Software 3-7 years
Other intangible assets 3-5years

Useful lives are reassessed annually and adjusted if
appropriate.

2.2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life, such as
goodwill, and intangible assets not yet ready for use,
are not subject to amortization and are tested for im-
pairment on an annual basis and whenever there is an
indication that the asset may be impaired.

Assets classified under property, plant and equipment
are tested for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be recoverable.

For the purposes of impairment testing, assets are
tested individually or grouped at the lowest levels for
which there are separately identifiable cash flows
(cash-generating units, CGUs). Goodwill is allocated to
the CGU at which it is monitored for internal manage-
ment purposes and which is not larger than an
operating segment.

If the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the
recoverable amount, an impairment equal to the
difference between the carrying amount and the re-
coverable amount is recognized as an impairment loss
in the income statement. The recoverable amount is
determined based on an asset’s value in use. In assess-
ing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects the current market assess-
ment of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset or CGU.

Any impairment loss on goodwill recognized in prior
periods may not be reversed in subsequent periods.
For other assets, an impairment loss is reversed only to
the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined, net of depreciation or amortization, if no
impairment loss had been recognized.



2.2.8 Financial liabilities

SIX classifies its financial liabilities either as financial
liabilities at amortized cost or financial liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss (FVtPL).

Financial liabilities are classified as current if payment
is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented
as non-current liabilities.

Afinancial liability is derecognized when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires.

Financial liabilities at amortized cost

Financial liabilities at amortized cost are initially recog-
nized at fair value less directly attributable transaction
cost. After initial recognition such financial liabilities
are measured at amortized cost using the effective in-
terest method. This category consists of trade and
other payables, borrowings and lease liabilities.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit

or loss

This category only includes derivatives at FVtPL. Refer
to derivatives.

2.2.9 Leases

Policy applicable from 1 January 2019

Upon inception of a contract, SIX assesses whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is or con-
tains a lease if the contract conveys the right to control
the use of an identified asset for a period of time in
exchange for consideration.

SIX as lessee

SIXis a lessee of premises, IT equipment and vehicles.
Leases are accounted for by recognizing a right-of-use
asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement
date. SIX has elected not to recognize right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that
have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognizes the lease pay-
ments associated with these leases as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Upon inception or reassessment of a contract that con-
tains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, SIX allocates the con-
sideration in the contract to each lease component
based on the relative stand-alone prices of the lease
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and non-lease components. SIX has elected not to sep-
arate non-lease components from lease components
for all classes of underlying assets.

Lease liabilities are initially measured at the present

value of the following lease payments that are not paid

at the commencement date:

- fixed payments

- variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate using the index or rate at the commencement
date

- lease payments in an optional renewal period or any
penalties payable for terminating a lease, if SIX is
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension
or termination option

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or rate are expensed in the period to which they
relate.

Lease liabilities are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease or if that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is usually the case, using the incre-
mental borrowing rate available at the contract
commencement date.

Subsequent to initial recognition, lease liabilities are
measured at amortized cost using the effective inter-
est method. Lease liabilities are remeasured when
there is a change in an index or rate, or if there is a
change in the lease term because the Group changes
its assessment of whether or not it will exercise an ex-
tension or termination option.

When a lease liability is remeasured for one of these
reasons, a corresponding adjustment is made to the
carrying amount of the right-of-use asset or is recorded
in the income statement if the carrying amount has
been reduced to zero. When a lease contract is modi-
fied and the scope of a lease is decreased, any gain or
loss is recognized in the income statement.

Right-of-use assets are initially measured at the initial
amount of the lease liability, less any lease incentives
received, plus any lease payments made at or before
commencement of the lease, initial direct costs in-
curred and the estimated amount of costs to dismantle,
remove or restore the underlying asset.
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Right-of-use assets are subsequently depreciated us-
ing the straight-line method from the commencement
date to the end of the useful life or the end of the lease
term, whichever is earlier. The estimated useful lives of
right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis
as those of property, plant and equipment. In addition,
the right-of-use asset may be reduced by impairment
losses or adjusted for certain remeasurements of the
lease liability.

SIX recognizes right-of-use assets within property,
plant and equipment, and lease liabilities within finan-
cial liabilities.

SIX as lessor

When SIX acts as lessor, it determines at lease incep-
tion whether each lease is a finance or operating lease.
To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall as-
sessment of whether the lease transfers substantially
all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of
the underlying asset. If this is the case, the lease is a
finance lease; if not, it is an operating lease. As part of
this assessment, SIX considers certain indicators such
as whether the lease is for the major part of the eco-
nomic life of the asset. SIX is a lessor of business
premises. Prior to the sale of the cards business SIX
was also a lessor of payment terminals. All lease agree-
ments are classified and recorded as operating leases.

Operating lease equipment is initially carried at its
acquisition cost. Leased assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis according to the depreciation poli-
cies of SIX for property, plant and equipment. Rental
income from operating leases is recognized on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease agree-
ment as part of other operating income.

Policy applicable before 1 January 2019

General criteria

Leasing includes all arrangements that transfer the
right to use a specified asset for a stated period of time
in return for a payment or series of payments. Lease
agreements that transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased
item to SIX are classified as finance leases. All other
lease agreements are classified as operating leases.

SIX is a lessee of premises, IT equipment and vehicles
and a lessor of premises. These lease agreements are
classified and recorded as operating leases.

Operating leases

SIX as lessee

Payments made under operating leases are recog-
nized in the income statement on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease agreement.

SIX as lessor

Operating lease equipment is initially carried at its ac-
quisition or manufacturing cost. The leased asset is
depreciated according to the depreciation policies of
SIX for property, plant and equipment on a straight-
line basis to its expected residual value or over the
contractual term of the lease. Rental income from
operating leases is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the term of the lease agreement in the income
statement as other operating income.

Sale and leaseback

A sale and leaseback is an arrangement where an en-
tity sells one of its assets and leases it back. The gain
or loss on the sale of the asset is recognized immedi-
ately if the transaction is concluded at fair value and
the leaseback qualifies as an operating lease.

2.2.10 Provisions

General criteria

Provisions are recognized when SIX has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event. Itis probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount of the
obligation can reliably be estimated. Provisions are not
recognized for future operating losses.

The amount recognized as a provision is the amount
which represents the best estimate required to settle
the present obligation. If the effect of the time value of
money is material, provisions are discounted using a
current pre-tax rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the liability. When discounting is used, the
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is
recognized as an interest expense.

Provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted as
further information develops or circumstances change.



Restructuring provisions

Restructuring provisions are recognized only when
the Group has a legal or constructive obligation, which
is when a detailed formal plan identifies the business
or part of the business concerned, the location and
number of employees affected, a detailed estimate of
the associated costs and an appropriate timeline, and
the employees affected have been notified of the plan’s
main features.

Asset retirement obligation

If alease agreement requires SIX to remove any assets it
has installed in the leased property (such as internal
walls or partitions), the removal obligation arises imme-
diately upon installation. In such a situation, the Group
recognizes a provision for the present value of the fu-
ture cost of removal at the date the assets are installed.

The costs of removal are capitalized as part of the ac-
quisition costs of the leasehold improvements and are
depreciated over their useful lives or according to the
lease term, if shorter.

Contingent liabilities and assets

Contingent liabilities are not recognized, but are dis-
closed, unless the possibility of an outflow of economic
resources is remote.

Contingent assets are not recognized, but are
disclosed, where an inflow of economic benefits is
probable. Where the realization of income is virtually
certain, the related asset is recognized.

2.2.11 Equity

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares in SIX Group Ltd are classified as share
capital.

Treasury shares

Own shares held by SIX Group Ltd itself and by other
entities of the Group are recognized at cost within
other reserves and deducted from equity. Gains or
losses on the disposal or cancellation of treasury
shares are recorded in other reserves.

2.2.12 Operating revenues

General

When SIX acts as principal, revenue is recorded gross.
However, when SIX acts only as an agent, revenue is
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limited to the commission or fee that it retains (net of
related costs). The main indicators that SIX is a princi-
pal are responsibility for fulfilling the promise to
provide services and discretion in establishing prices.

Revenue is measured at the transaction price and
represents the consideration to which SIX expects to
be entitled in exchange for transferring services, net
of amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
If contracts include two or more performance obliga-
tions, the transaction price is allocated to the
performance obligations on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. Management determines the
stand-alone selling price at contract inception, based
on observable prices for the type of services ren-
dered or products delivered in similar circumstances
to similar customers.

Volume discounts are generally based on the total
services provided within a calendar year. Therefore,
no estimates are required at the end of the financial
year. During the financial year, an average estimated
selling price is recognized as revenue. The volume
discounts are estimated based on the total volume
expected for the full year and the related discount
levels reached (i.e. the most likely method). The dif-
ference between the expected average selling price
and the payments received is recognized as a con-
tract liability. If a discount is granted and there is
more than one performance obligation, the discount
is allocated to the performance obligations based on
their relative stand-alone selling prices. Returns or
refunds are not significant in any business area.

Transaction revenues

Transaction revenues are generated by services
which are directly related to a single transaction (e.g.
trading in securities, clearing & settlement trans-
actions, payment transactions, ATM transactions,
interbank clearing transactions and e-bill payments,
land registry and mortgage transactions, SWIFT
messages, etc.) or services which are triggered and
remunerated on an incident or order basis (e.g. PIN
order). The performance obligation of a service is
satisfied at the time of the transaction or incident.

In the Securities & Exchanges business, transaction
fees are recognized on the settlement day or on the
day when the trade is completed (for late
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settlements) - i.e. transaction revenues are recog-
nized at a pointin time.

Service revenues

Revenue from providing services is recognized in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered.
Revenue is recognized based on the actual service
provided up to the end of the reporting period as a
proportion of the total services to be provided (i.e.
recognition over time). This is generally determined
based on the time elapsed, as most services are pro-
vided over a fixed contract period.

In the Securities & Exchanges business, fees related
to the initial listing are recognized over the (esti-
mated) listing period.

Net interest income from interest margin business
Interest income and expenses arise from the interest
margin business of Securities & Exchanges and Banking
Services, which are part of the core business activities
of SIX. Accordingly, net interest income from interest
margin business has been separated from the Group’s
other interest income and expenses. Net interest in-
come from interest margin business is recognized
applying the effective interest method. Negative inter-
est on financial assets is presented within interest
expenses from interest margin business, and the re-
lated interest earned from the recharge of negative
interest is presented within interest income from inter-
est margin business.

Other operating income

Other operating income includes income earned
from sale of assets, lease income and non-standard
services. Lease income and most of the non-standard
services are recognized over time.

Contract costs

Costs to obtain a contract

Incremental costs of obtaining a contract with a cus-
tomer are recognized as an asset if the Group expects
to recover these. Costs to obtain a contract are amor-
tized over the average contract period, which is based
on past experience with services rendered in similar
circumstances to similar customers.

Contract balances

Contract assets and liabilities

If services rendered by the Group exceed the payments
received, a contract asset is recognized. If the payments
exceed the services rendered, a contract liability is
recognized.

Contract assets represent a conditional right of payment
(i.e. further performance obligations are outstanding)
and are presented within other current assets.

2.2.13 Employee benefits

General

SIX maintains a number of different pension plans
based on the respective legislation in each country. The
retirement benefit plans include both defined benefit
and defined contribution plans.

Defined contribution plans

Contributions to defined contribution plans are recog-
nized as an employee benefit expense in the period
during which the related services are rendered by
employees.

Defined benefit plans

The net liability or asset recognized in the balance
sheet in respect of defined benefit plans is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation less the fair
value of plan assets. Actuarial assumptions used for
calculation include the discount rate, future salary and
pension increases, staff turnover and life expectancy.
The calculation is performed annually by a qualified ac-
tuary using the projected unit credit method. Pension
plan assets are valued annually at market values.
Defined benefit costs consist of three components:

- service costs, curtailments and settlements

- netinterestincome or expenses

- remeasurements



Service costs include current and past service costs
and are presented within employee benefit expenses.
The Group recognizes gains and losses on plan curtail-
ments or settlements in the income statement when
they occur.

Net interest income or expenses are calculated as the
net defined benefit liability or asset at the beginning of
the reporting period multiplied by the discount rate
that is used to measure the defined benefit obligation.
Net interest income or expenses are recognized within
employee benefit expenses.

Remeasurements comprise actuarial gains and losses
and the return on plan assets (excluding interest). SIX
recognizes them in other comprehensive income.
Remeasurements are not recycled to the income
statement.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is
terminated before the normal retirement date, or when
an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in ex-
change for these benefits. Termination benefits are
expensed at the earlier of when the Group can no
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits or when
the Group recognizes costs for a restructuring. In the
case of an offer made to encourage voluntary redun-
dancy, the termination benefits are measured based
on the number of employees expected to accept the
offer. Benefits falling due more than twelve months
after the end of the reporting period are discounted to
their present value.

Other long-term employee benefits

The Group’s obligation in respect of long-term em-
ployee benefits is the amount of future benefit that
employees have earned in return for their service in
the current and prior periods. Remeasurements are
recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they
arise. Other long-term employee benefits include in
particular long-service awards (or “jubilees”). The
liability is determined by applying the projected unit
credit method. The actuarial assumptions used are
reassessed annually.
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Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are meas-
ured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed when
the related service is provided.

2.2.14 Interest and dividends
Interest income and expenses
For all financial instruments measured at amortized
cost, interest income and expenses are recorded
using the effective interest method. Negative interest
on financial assets is presented within interest ex-
penses. Negative interest on financial liabilities is
presented within interest income.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognized when the right to receive
payment is established and are included in financial
income.

2.2.15 Income taxes

General

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Taxes are recognized in the income state-
ment, except to the extent that the underlying
transaction is recorded either in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity.

Current income taxes

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured
atthe amount expected to be recovered from or paid to
the tax authorities based on the taxable profit. The tax
rates and tax laws used to calculate the amount are
those that are enacted or substantively enacted at the
reporting date in the countries where the Group operates
and generates taxable income.

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax is recognized by applying the liability

method in respect of temporary differences between

the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for finan-

cial reporting purposes and the amounts used for

taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not recognized for:

- temporary differences on the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that is not a
business combination and that affects neither
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss

- taxable temporary differences arising on the initial
recognition of goodwill
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Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax
losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that suffi-
cient future taxable profits will be available against
which they can be utilized.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is re-
viewed at each reporting date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilized. Unrecognized de-
ferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date
and are recognized to the extent that it has become
probable that future taxable profits will allow the de-
ferred tax asset to be recovered.

Calculation of deferred taxes is based on the country-
specific tax rates expected to apply in the accounting
period in which these tax assets will be realized or tax
liabilities will be settled. Deferred tax assets and liabili-
ties are offset if they relate to the same taxable entity
and tax authority and if there exists an offset entitle-
ment for current taxes.

2.3 Changes in the Group’s accounting policies
SIX has applied as from 1 January 2019 the following
new accounting policies.

2.3.1 Voluntary change in presentation of the
consolidated income statement

SIX has enhanced the presentation of its consolidated
income statement by including the subtotal “Earnings
before interest, tax, depreciation and amortization
(EBITDA)". Depreciation, amortization and impairment
are consequently no longer included in the subtotal
“Total operating expenses”. In addition, lump-sum ex-
penses previously reported under other operating
expenses have been reclassified to employee benefit
expenses. These changes have been made to align the
presentation with the internal reporting. Comparison
figures for 2018 have been restated accordingly.

2.3.2 Change in existing accounting policies

- listing fees

In the first quarter of 2019, the IFRS Interpretations
Committee discussed the accounting for exchanges’
listing fees and decided that the listing service trans-
ferred to the customer is the same on initial listing and
on all subsequent days for which the customer remains

listed. Based on the IFRIC observations, SIX concluded
that listing fees must be recognized on a straight-line
basis over the listing period, rather than distributing
the fees based on the entity’s efforts or inputs to sat-
isfy a performance obligation. The accounting policies
have therefore been changed accordingly. The effect
on the income statement 2019 and 2018 was not mate-
rial. Based on the accounting policy change, contract
liabilities and deferred tax assets were restated as at
1 January 2018 by CHF 15.3 million and CHF 3.3 million,
respectively. The net impact on retained earnings as at
1 January 2018 was CHF 12.0 million (decrease in re-
tained earnings).

2.3.3 New standards, interpretations and
amendments adopted by the Group

IFRS 16 Leases

IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining
Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease, SIC-15
Operating Leases - Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the
Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal Form of a
Lease. IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance-sheet ac-
counting model for lessees. The accounting policies for
SIX as lessor were substantially unchanged.

SIX adopted IFRS 16 with effect from 1 January 2019
using the modified retrospective approach. Under this
method, the cumulative effect of the initial application
is recognized in equity, with no restatement of compar-
isondata. Uponinitial application of IFRS 16, SIX elected
to apply the practical expedient of grandfathering the
assessment of which transactions are or contain leases.

Contracts that were not identified as leases under

IAS 17 and IFRIC 4 were therefore not reassessed for

the existence of a lease. The definition of a lease under

IFRS 16 has been applied only to contracts entered into

or changed on or after 1 January 2019. Additionally, SIX

applied the following practical expedients on initial

recognition of IFRS 16:

- not to recognize right-of-use assets and liabilities
for leases whose terms end within 12 months of the
date of initial application (apply short-term lease
accounting)

- torely on an assessment of whether a lease is
onerous by applying IAS 37 immediately before the
date of initial application

- to exclude initial direct costs from the measurement
of right-of-use assets at the date of initial
application



- to use hindsight, such as determining the lease term
if the contract contains options to extend or
terminate the lease

As a lessee, SIX previously classified leases as operat-
ing or finance leases based on its assessment of
whether the lease transferred substantially all of the
risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the under-
lying asset. Under IFRS 16, the Group recognizes
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for all leases,
except for short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets.
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Upon initial application, lease liabilities were measured
at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the Group’s incremental borrowing
rate as at 1 January 2019. Right-of-use assets were
measured at either:

— Their carrying amount as if IFRS 16 had been applied
since the commencement date, discounted using
the incremental borrowing rates at the date of initial
application. SIX applied this approach to the three
largest leases of office space.

— An amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease pay-
ments recognized at 31 December 2018. SIX applied
this approach to all other leases.

SIX was not required to make any adjustments on tran-
sition to IFRS 16 for leases in which it acts as lessor.

The following table summarizes the impact of adopting IFRS 16 on the balance sheet and the income statement:

CHF million

Impact of
adopting IFRS 16

Balance sheet

Prepayments -2.8
Property, plant and equipment 164.4
Deferred tax assets 1.1
Total assets 162.7
Lease liabilities 167.6
Accrued expenses -1.2
Total liabilities 166.4
Impact on retained earnings as at 1 January 2019 -3.8
Income statement

Operating expenses 17.2
Depreciation -15.4
Impact on EBIT as at 31 December 2019 1.9
Interest expenses -2.9
Impact on EBT as at 31 December 2019 -1.0
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The nature of expenses related to leases recognized on
the balance sheet changed because SIX recognizes a
depreciation charge for right-of-use assets and inter-
est expenses on lease liabilities. In the prior year, SIX

recognized operating lease expenses on a straight-line
basis over the term.

The average incremental borrowing rate applied on
the adoption of IFRS 16 was 1.7%.

The following table provides a reconciliation of the operating lease commitments disclosed under IAS 17 and the

lease liabilities recognized under IFRS 16:

Reconciliation from

CHF million Notes IAS 17 to IFRS 16
Lease commitments of SIX at 31 December 2018 as disclosed in the Group’s financial statements 34 190.2
Discounting using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 January 2019 -26.5
Recognition exemption for short-term leases -0.4
Recognition exemption for low-value assets -1
Extension and termination options reasonably certain to be exercised by SIX 5.4
Lease liabilities recognized at 1 January 2019 167.6

Other interpretations and amendments adopted

by SIX

The adoption of the following amendments has had no

significant impact on the consolidated financial state-

ments of the Group as at 31 December 2019.

— IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

- Prepayment Features with Negative Compensation
(Amendment to IFRS 9)

- Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures
(Amendments to IAS 28)

- Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017
Cycle

- Plan Amendment, Curtailment or Settlement
(Amendments to IAS 19)



2.4
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IFRS and interpretations that have been issued but are not yet effective

The following new and/or revised standards and interpretations have been issued, but are not yet effective.
They have not been applied early in these consolidated financial statements.

Standard/interpretation

Effective date Date planned for adoption by SIX

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture (Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28)

A date to be determined by the To be determined by SIX'
IASB

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

Annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2020

Financial year 20202

Definition of Business (Amendments to IFRS 3)

Annual periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2020

Financial year 20202

Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8)

Annual periods beginning on Financial year 20202

or after 1 January 2020
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and Annual periods beginning on Financial year 20202
IFRS7) or after 1 January 2020

" The impact on the consolidated financial statements of SIX has not yet been fully assessed.
2 The adoption of the amendment is not expected to have any significant impact on the consolidated financial statements of SIX.

3. Use of Judgments and Estimates

The application of some accounting policies requires
the use of assumptions, estimates and judgments that
may affect the reported assets and liabilities, income
and expenses and also the disclosure of contingent as-
sets and liabilities in the reporting period. Additionally,
there is a significant risk that these estimation uncer-
tainties could result in material adjustments to the
carrying amount of assets and liabilities within the
next financial year. The assumptions and estimates are
continually reviewed and are based upon historical ex-
perience and other factors, including anticipated
developments arising from probable future events.
Actual future occurrences may differ from these as-
sumptions and estimates.

Areas that may incorporate a greater number of uncer-
tain assumptions, estimates and judgments are listed
below.

Fair value of assets and liabilities recognized in
a business combination or in an investment in
associates

In the case of business combinations, assets acquired
and liabilities assumed are measured at fair value at
the date of acquisition. In determining the fair value of
intangible assets, and property, plant and equipment

acquired, as well as liabilities assumed at the date
of acquisition and the useful lives of the intangible
and tangible assets acquired, certain assumptions are
made. The measurement is based upon projected cash
flows and on information available at the date of acqui-
sition (see note 31).

An investment in an associated company requires
certain considerations of fair value measurementin ac-
cordance with IFRS 3, despite the fact that SIX has not
obtained control. In contrast to a business combina-
tion, the data access of SIX may be limited for such
investments. Therefore, the fair value measurement is
based upon projected cash flows and publicly-available
data, data prepared by SIX, and the data the associ-
ate’s management is willing and able to share (see
note 30).

Fair value of level 3 instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market is determined by using
several valuation techniques. SIX uses judgment to de-
termine the valuation methods and makes assumptions
to estimate the inputs into the calculations, as the pa-
rameters for the calculation of the fair values are not
readily available in the markets. Significant valuations
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are regularly reviewed by Risk Management. The calcu-
lations are based on information available as at the
reporting date. Sensitivity analysis of the key level 3 in-
put parameters are disclosed in note 27.

Capitalization of development costs

SIX develops various software applications for internal
and external use. Development costs for self-developed
intangible assets are capitalized if the applicable crite-
ria of IAS 38 are fulfilled. Initial capitalization of costs is
based on management'’s judgment that the feasibility
is confirmed. In determining the amounts to be capi-
talized, management makes assumptions regarding
the expected future cash flows generated from the pro-
ject, the discount rates to be applied and the expected
period of benefits.

All development costs are allocated to projects.
Projects are broken down into three main phases.
Costs incurred in the inception and transition phase
are treated as non-capitalizable, whereas costs
incurred in the construction phase are treated as cap-
italizable. Project management is generally allocated
to each single project phase and is treated as capitaliz-
able or non-capitalizable, as applicable. Development
costs that do not satisfy the requirements for capitali-
zation are expensed as incurred.

Utilization of tax losses and recognition of
deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax
losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the losses can be
utilized. Significant management judgment is required
to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that
can be recognized, based upon the likely timing and

the level of future taxable profits. At each closing, the
entity assesses the recoverability of deferred tax as-
sets, including those recognized in previous periods.
Further details on recognized deferred tax assets and
unrecognized tax losses are disclosed in note 13.

Measurement of defined benefit obligations
Accounting for defined benefit obligations requires the
application of certain actuarial assumptions (e.g. dis-
count rate, salary trend, interest rate on retirement
savings capital and life expectancy). These assump-
tions were used to calculate the present value of the
obligation (or asset) as at 31 December 2019. Changes
in actuarial assumptions can materially affect pension
obligations and the expenses arising from employee
benefit plans. A sensitivity analysis of the key factors is
presented in note 35.

Provisions

SIX has a significant international operation and is
therefore subject to various legal and regulatory re-
gimes. Some entities of the Group are parties to legal
proceedings. Provisions are raised for the expected
amounts payable in respect of legal or regulatory re-
quirements, legal claims and restructurings. The
measurement of provisions and contingencies is peri-
odically assessed based upon the latest information
available, usually with the assistance of lawyers and
other specialists. For further details on provisions, see
note 24.

Discontinued operations

For the separation of the cards business in 2018 and the
allocation between continuing and discontinued opera-
tions, SIX has used judgment and made assumptions
and estimates.
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Performance for the Year

4. Segment Information

Determination of operating segments

The operating segments of SIX are determined based
on the management approach. Accordingly, external
segment reporting reflects the internal organizational
and management structure as well as the internal fi-
nancial reporting to the chief operating decision maker
(CODM).

For the purpose of internal reporting, SIX
down into three reportable segments
Service Service description

Others. Corporate activities that support the Group as
a whole do not qualify as reportable operating seg-
ments under IFRS 8. They include the activities of IT,
Risk, Legal & Compliance, Finance & Services, Human
Resources and Marketing & Communications. These
corporate activities, along with the Innovation & Digital
business unit and SIX Exchange Regulation, are
grouped together under “Corporate & Others”. The re-
pisrtabtelsegments and Corporate & Others offer the

and Cdobloreireg pRoducts and services:

Securities & Exchanges

Trading

Securities & Exchanges generates transaction revenues by providing a cash market for trading in shares, bonds,

funds and exchange-traded products (ETPs) and a securitized derivatives market for structured products and
warrants. Transaction revenues are invoiced on a monthly basis. The trading business also generates service
revenues for the maintenance of listings.

Custody business

Operating as the Central Securities Depository (CSD) for Switzerland and as an international custodian across

various markets worldwide, Securities & Exchanges through the legal entity SIX SIS Ltd delivers
comprehensive custody services for Swiss and international securities. Securities & Exchanges generates
service revenues with issuer services, asset servicing, cash management, queries and reporting, and tax
services. Transaction revenues are generated with settlement services, repos and Swiss fund processing.
The custody business also generates interest income from interest margin business.

Data Securities & Exchanges distributes raw market data and index products, which generates service revenues.
The service fees are generally invoiced on an annual basis.
CCP clearing Securities & Exchanges, through its clearing arm SIX x-clear Ltd, provides multi-asset clearing services and

acts as a highly diversified central counterparty with access to multiple trading venues and matching platforms
across Europe. Transaction revenues are generated through clearing of transactions. Interest income from
interest margin business is generated from its bond portfolio and repo transactions.

Banking Services

Billing and payments

Banking Services offers payment transaction processing services between financial institutions through the

legal entity SIX Interbank Clearing Ltd (SIC). SIC processes on behalf of the Swiss National Bank retail and
wholesale payments in Swiss Francs and additionally provides a gateway for Euro payments for the Swiss
financial community (euroSIC). Banking Services is the leading infrastructure provider for digital billing in
Switzerland with solutions such as eBill and direct debits. The revenues are mainly generated through
transaction fees. Service revenues are generated by base fees and consultancy services.

ATM processing and services

Banking Services provides ATM transaction processing and infrastructure services as the leading provider in

Switzerland. Banking Services mainly generates transaction revenues through processed transactions and
service fees based on the number of ATMs. The location fee received in the ATM business is presented net in
transaction income, as SIX has not obtained control over the service. The service fees are generally invoiced on

an annual basis.

Debit processing and services

Banking Services provides issuing processing services for debit card issuers. The processed transactions

generate transaction revenues and issuing service fees. Besides that, Banking Services also generates service
revenues by providing operational support to card issuers (e.g. hotline services or fraud management). The
service fees are generally invoiced on a monthly basis.
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Service

Service description

Financial Information

Reference data & pricing

Financial Information offers procurement, processing and distribution of reference data and pricing informa-
tion. The business generates service revenues. The service fees are generally invoiced on an annual basis.

Market data & display

Financial Information offers procurement, processing and distribution of (realtime) market data and offers
display products. The business generates service revenues. The service fees are generally invoiced on an
annual basis. The royalties for financial data paid to stock exchanges are presented net in service income,
as SIX has not obtained control over the service.

Tax &regulatory services

Financial Information provides complete reference data required for local and cross-border regulatory and tax
compliance. The business generates service revenues. The service fees are generally invoiced on an annual
basis.

Indices

Financial Information provides index services by calculating indices and offering licenses for SIX indices.
The business generates service revenues. The fees for the index services are generally invoiced quarterly for
variable and annually for fixed fees.

Cards (sold in 2018, refer to note 18)

Merchant services

Cards generates transaction revenue by providing card acceptance and merchant services (as an “acquirer”).
SIX also offers value-added services to merchants, which generates service revenues. In the terminal business
(enabling), Cards generates service revenues by providing maintenance services and other operating income
from selling and leasing of terminals. The fees received in connection with mobile vouchers (i.e. fees for
airtime) are presented net within transaction income, as SIX has not obtained control over the service.

Financial industry services

Cards provides processing services for card issuers and acquirers. The processed transactions generate
transaction revenues. Cards also generates service revenues by providing support to card issuers
(e.g. hotline services).

Corporate & Others

Corporate services

Corporate activities include IT, Risk, Legal & Compliance, Finance & Services, Human Resources and Marketing
& Communications. Corporate & Others also includes the Innovation & Digital business unit and SIX Exchange
Regulation. Service revenues are mainly generated by providing IT services to associated companies.
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Performance of the reportable segments is measured reportable segments (e.g. management fees charged
based on profit contribution as included in the internal by corporate functions) are not part of the profit contri-
management reports, which are reviewed regularly bution. Corporate & Others is measured based on
by the CODM. Profit contribution includes costs that operational expenses. Transactions between the seg-
can be influenced and controlled by the reportable ments are based on market prices.

segments. Costs that cannot be controlled by the

2019
Financial Total
Securities&  Banking Infor-  business Corporate Elimi-

CHF million Exchanges  Services mation units & Others nation  Total SIX
Revenues from external customers 506.6 181.8 364.5 1,053.0 76.7 - 1,129.7
Income from other business units and Corporate -0.3' 5.7 3.7 9.1 - -9.1 -
Total operating income 506.3 187.5 368.2 1,062.1 76.7 -9.1 1,129.7
Depreciation, amortization and impairment 5049 -0.8 -1.4 -3.1 =582 = -56.3
Other operational expenses -345.1 -148.4 -272.6 -766.1 -504.1 309.6 -960.6
Total operational expenses -346.0 -149.2 -274.0 -769.2 -557.3 309.6 -1,016.9
Profit contribution 160.3 38.3 94.2 292.8 -480.5 300.5 112.8
Other income 10.7
Financial income 2333
Financial expenses -258.4
Share of profit or loss of associates 69.6
Earnings before interest and tax (EBIT) 168.0
Interest income 3.5
Interest expenses =111
Earnings before tax (EBT) 160.3
Income tax expenses -39.8
Profit for the period 120.5

"Includes recharge of negative interest included in “net interest income from margin business”.
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2018
Financial Total Discon- Con-
Securities & Banking Infor- business Corporate Elimi- tinued tinuing
CHF million Exchanges  Services mation Cards' units &Others' nation Total SIX operations operations
Revenues from 506.5 154.8 390.2 875.3 1,926.8 11.8 - 1,938.7 822.8 1,115.8
external customers
Income from other 7.1 1.5 7.1 52.2 67.9 - -67.9 - - -
business units and
Corporate 2
Total operating income? 513.5 156.4 397.3 927.6  1,994.7 11.8 -67.9 1,938.7 822.8 1,115.8
Depreciation, amorti- -0.0 -0.1 -0.7 -7.5 -8.3 -38.5 - -46.8 -8.7 -38.1
zation and impairment
Other operational -320.8 -118.5 -288.3 -7949 -1,522.5 -614.3 470.4 -1,666.5 -731.2 -935.3
expenses
Total operational -320.8 -118.6 -289.0 -802.4 -1,530.8 -652.9 470.4 -1,713.3 -739.9 -973.4
expenses
Profit contribution? 192.7 37.8 108.3 12541 463.9 -641.0 402.4 225.4 82.9 142.5
Other expenses -5.0
Financial income 37.9
Financial expenses -33.9
Share of profit or loss -6.4
of associates
Earnings before 135.0
interest and tax (EBIT)
Interest income 3.7
Interest expenses -6.3
Earnings 132.3
before tax (EBT)
Income tax expenses -37.4
Profit for the period 95.0

from continuing
operations

' Discontinued operations is included in Cards and Corporate & Others. See note 18 for further details.

? Prior-year figures have been reclassified to match the current year's presentation. In 2018, income from other business units and Corporate was split into

product-related income and non-product-related income from other business units. Non-product-related income from other business units was not included in total

operating income.

* Profit contribution was previously called “operational profit”.



Disclosures by geographical area

SIX operates mainly in Switzerland, and in other
European countries. The geographical analysis of
the operating income from external customers and
non-current assets is based on the location of the entity
in which the transactions and assets were recorded.
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Non-current assets mainly consist of property, plant
and equipment, intangible assets, investments in
associates and other non-current assets, and exclude
financial instruments, deferred tax and post-employ-
ment benefit assets in accordance with the provisions
of IFRS 8.

Total operating income Non-current assets

CHF million 2019 2018 31/12/2019 31/12/2018
Switzerland 909.2 897.5 2,467.0 3,018.6
France 49.9 52.1 12.0 3.8
Germany 33.0 19.3 2.5 0.3
United Kingdom 21.3 23.2 1.8 1.1
Luxembourg 19.8 19.8 1.8 0.7
Italy 15.4 16.1 0.4 0.4
Denmark 12.2 12.4 0.7 0.4
Sweden 9.8 12.9 4.2 2.1
Rest of Europe 21.3 21.8 1.7 0.5
North America 27.4 30.2 6.9 3.2
Asia/Pacific 8.7 9.0 2.5 0.6
North Africa 1.6 1.6 0.3 0.1
Total 1,129.7 1,115.8 2,501.8 3,031.8

Disclosures of major customers

SIX has a large number of customers. In 2019 and 2018,
the revenue with one single external customer exceed
10% of the Group’s revenue. The revenue totaled
CHF 120.1 million (2018: CHF 120.8 million) and was
generated by all business units.
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5. Operating Income

In the following table, revenue is disaggregated by revenue type and by major service lines:

2019
Net interest
income from Other
Transaction Service interest margin operating

CHF million revenues revenues business income Total
Securities & Exchanges
Trading 145.1 15.4 = 0.1 160.6
Custody business 179.6 8.9 33.8 - 2222
Data - 32.0 - - 32.0
CCP clearing 19.2 6.4 8.6 0.0 34.2
Other services 42.1 14.5 - 0.9 57.5
Total Securities & Exchanges 385.9 77.2 42.4 11 506.6
Banking Services
Billing and payments 56.2 7.5 10.7 0.2 74.5
ATM processing and services 33.5 5.8 - 0.3 39.6
Debit processing and services 48.4 14.2 - - 62.6
Other services - 5.2 - 0.0 5.2
Total Banking Services 138.0 32.6 10.7 0.5 181.8
Financial Information
Reference data & pricing - 223.5 - - 2235
Market data & display - 71.8 - - 77.8
Tax & regulatory services = 30.9 = = 30.9
Indices - 16.8 - - 16.8
Other services - 15.5 - 0.0 15.5
Total Financial Information - 364.5 - 0.0 364.5
Corporate & Others
Other services - 65.3 - 11.5 76.7
Total Corporate & Others - 65.3 - 1.5 76.7
Total operating income 524.0 539.6 53.1 131 1,129.7
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2018
Net interest
income from Other
Transaction Service interest margin operating

CHF million revenues revenues business income Total
Securities & Exchanges
Trading 146.1 14.9 - 0.2 161.2
Custody business 186.5 9.1 26.9 0.0 222.5
Data - 33.0 - - 33.0
CCP clearing 18.0 6.8 7.2 0.0 32.0
Other services 41.8 14.1 - 1.9 57.8
Total Securities & Exchanges 392.4 77.9 341 241 506.5
Banking Services
Billing and payments’ 44.2 8.5 - 0.0 52.7
ATM processing and services' 32.8 3.2 - 0.0 36.0
Debit processing and services' 50.4 14.3 - - 64.7
Other services 0.1 1.3 - 0.0 1.4
Total Banking Services 127.6 27.2 - 0.1 154.8
Financial Information
Reference data & pricing - 236.9 - - 236.9
Market data & display - 83.7 - 0.0 83.7
Tax & regulatory services - 28.4 - - 28.4
Indices - 15.5 - - 15.5
Other services - 21.8 - 3.8 25.7
Total Financial Information - 386.3 - 3.8 390.2
Cards
Merchant services 7177 20.9 - 54.8 793.3
Financial industry services 51.4 26.0 - 3.6 81.1
Other services - 0.9 - - 0.9
Total Cards? 769.1 47.8 - 58.4 875.3
Corporate & Others
Other services - 9.8 - 2.0 1.8
Total Corporate & Others - 9.8 - 2.0 11.8
Total operating income (incl. discontinued 1,289.1 549.1 3441 66.4 1,938.7
operations)
of which discontinued operations 769.1 4.7 - 49.0 822.8
Total operating income 520.0 544.3 3441 17.5 1,115.8

" Prior year's figures have been adjusted to match the current year's presentation.

2 Differences versus the total operating income in the income statement for Cards in note 18 are due to the intercompany elimination practice for discontinued
operations described in note 2.
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Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations

The following table includes operating income ex-
pected to be recognized in the future related to
performance obligations that are unsatisfied (or par-
tially unsatisfied) as at 31 December 2019 and
31 December 2018. The remaining performance

obligations include in particular a contract for various
IT services which expires in 2028. Not included are
customer contracts with an initial term of 12 months
or less and customer contracts when SIX has a right
to invoice the amount that corresponds directly to the
value of the performance completed to date (i.e.
transaction based revenues).

CHF million 31/12/2019 31/12/2018'
Within one year 7.7 79.9
Within two years 61.5 67.5
Within three years 56.7 56.5
Thereafter 254.4 306.1
Total 444.2 510.0

12018 figures were adjusted.

Contract liabilities

The following table provides an overview of significant changes in the balances of contract liabilities:

CHF million 2019 2018
restated’
Carrying amount at 1 January 79.4 27.8
Impact of changes in accounting policies - 15.3
Adjusted carrying amount at 1 January 79.4 431
Revenue recognized that was included in contract liabilities at 1 January -32.1 -24.6
Increases due to cash received, excluding amounts recognized as revenue during the period 31.2 67.1
Disposals due to changes in the scope of consolidation - -6.3
Carrying amount at 31 December 78.5 79.4
of which current 23.8 29.0
of which non-current 40.4 50.4

" See note 2 (under 2.3.2 “Change in existing accounting policies - listing fees”) for further information on the restatement.
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6. Net Interest Income from Interest Margin Business

CHF million 2019 2018
Interest income from interest margin business 86.4 68.2
Interest expenses from interest margin business -33.3 -34.1
Net interest income from interest margin business 53.1 3441

In 2019, interest income from interest margin busi-
ness included recharges of negative interest to
customers in the amount of CHF 30.0 million (2018:
CHF 36.1 million).

7. Employee Benefit Expenses

In 2019, interest expenses from interest margin busi-
ness included interest arising from negative interest
ratesonfinancialassetsintheamountofCHF32.2 million
(2018: CHF 29.1 million).

CHF million 2019 2018
restated’
Salaries and wages -355.8 -361.0
Social security expenses -86.5 -79.1
Others -30.7 -30.8
Total employee benefit expenses -473.0 -470.9

" The presentation of the consolidated income statement has been voluntarily changed. The prior year's figures have been restated accordingly. See note 2 (under 2.3.1
“Voluntary change in presentation of the consolidated income statement”) for further information.

Expenses recognized for defined contribution plans
are included in social security expenses and amount to
CHF 2.8 million (2018: CHF 2.6 million).
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8. Other Operating Expenses

CHF million 2019 2018

restated’
Contractor costs? -185.4 -157.3
Sales-related costs -109.6 -104.3
Expenses for IT infrastructure -74.0 -73.7
Expenses for data procurement & operation -44.9 -45.6
VAT & tax expenses -14.7 -16.4
Expenses for building infrastructure -12.0 -27.3
Marketing and advertising expenses -11.5 -10.9
Legal and audit fees -13.2 -11.8
Travel expenses -8.9 -7.4
Others -13.4 -10.1
Own work capitalized 44.4 24.1
Total other operating expenses -443.2 -440.5

" The presentation of the consolidated income statement has been voluntarily changed. The prior year's figures have been restated accordingly. See note 2 (under 2.3.1
“Voluntary change in presentation of the consolidated income statement”) for further information. In addition, the breakdown within other operating expenses has

been voluntarily changed. The prior year's figures have been restated accordingly.

2 Contractor costs include consulting fees, external staff and external software development expenses.

The decrease in the expenses for building infrastruc-
ture results from the adoption of IFRS 16 Leases. For
further details, see note 2.

Own work capitalized includes costs incurred for the
development and implementation of software.

CHF million 2019 2018
Total expenses for software development 107.6 49.1
of which capitalized 44.4 24.1

In 2019, 41.3% of the costs incurred for the develop-
ment and implementation of software were capitalized

(2018: 49.1%). The capitalization ratio mainly depends
on the nature of the costs incurred.
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9. Financial Income and Expenses

CHF million 2019 2018
Income from financial instruments at fair value 47.8 30.1
Foreign exchange rate gains 0.9 7.5
Other financial income 184.6 0.2
Total financial income 233.3 37.9
Expenses from financial instruments at fair value -226.1 -19.6
Expenses from financial instruments at amortized cost -1.7 -1.2
Foreign exchange rate losses -3.5 -11.9
Other financial expenses -27.2 -1.3
Total financial expenses -258.4 -33.9

In 2019, income from financial instruments at fair
value included dividend income in the amount of
CHF 6.5 million (2018: CHF 7.5 million).

Other financial income included the net remeasure-
ment gain of CHF 166.3 million on the Worldline collar
shares (for further details, see note 30) and the gain
from bargain purchase of CHF 18.0 million which was
recognized at the acquisition of SECB (for further
details, see note 30).

In 2019, expenses from financial instruments at fair
value included the expenses of CHF 127.1 million re-
lated to the contingent consideration associated with
the sale of the cards business and fair value losses of

CHF 98.5 million of the equity collar hedge on the
Worldline shares. For further details, see note 17.

Other financial expenses includes CHF 12.1 million
banking fees in connection with financing and hedging
transactions.

Foreign exchange rate gains and losses comprise
gains and losses from financial instruments at amor-
tized cost and financial instruments at fair value. The
latter also includes the fair value changes of foreign
currency derivatives. In 2019, the net foreign
exchange rate loss from financial instruments at
amortized cost was CHF 0.6 million (2018: net loss of
CHF 0.1 million).



SIX Annual Report 2019

10. Interest Income and Expenses

CHF million 2019 2018
Debt instruments 3.1 3.0
Cash and cash equivalents 0.2 0.5
Others 0.2 0.2
Total interest income 35 3.7
Debt instruments -0.4 -0.9
Cash and cash equivalents -7.8 -5.4
Interest expenses on lease liabilities -2.9 -
Others -0.1 -0.1
Total interest expenses -11.1 -6.3

In 2019, interest income mainly consisted of income In 2019, total interest expenses included interest
from interest received or accrued on investments in charges arising from negative interest rates on finan-
debt instruments in the amount of CHF 3.1 million cial assets in the amount of CHF 7.8 million (2018:
(2018: CHF 3.0 million). Interest expenses from the CHF 5.4 million).

amortization of premiums on debt instruments totaled

CHF 0.4 million (2018: CHF 0.9 million).

11. Earnings per Share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the profit for the year attributable to shareholders of SIX
by the weighted average number of shares outstanding during the year.

Notes 2019 2018
Net profit attributable to shareholders of SIX Group Ltd (in CHF million) 120.4 2,881.8
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 23 18,914,041 18,914,041
Basic earnings per share (in CHF) 6.37 152.36
Profit for the period from continuing operations attributable to shareholders of 120.4 94.1
SIX Group Ltd (in CHF million)
Weighted average number of shares outstanding 23 18,914,041 18,914,041
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations (in CHF) 6.37 4.97

There was no dilution of earnings per share in 2019 or
2018. For the earnings per share from discontinued
operations, see note 18.
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12. Income Taxes

Income tax expenses
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The major components of income tax expenses for the years ending 31 December 2019 and 31 December 2018 were:

CHF million 2019 2018
Current tax

Current tax on profits for the year -54.5 -38.1
Adjustments in respect of prior years -2.7 4.1
Total current tax expenses -57.2 -34.1
Deferred tax

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 20.5 -0.2
Deferred tax on tax losses -1.7 -1.7
Other changes in deferred tax -1.4 -1.4
Total deferred tax expenses 17.4 -3.3
Total income tax expenses -39.8 -37.4

The tax reform in Switzerland abolishes the cantonal
tax regimes, such as the holding regime, per
31 December 2019, which affects the legal entities SIX
Group Ltd and SIX Securities Services Ltd. The tax re-
form will also lead to a general reduction of the Swiss
statutory corporate income tax rates in the coming
years from around 21.2% to slightly under 20%. The re-
duction of the tax rates will not take effect until 2021,
but the changes already have an impact on the

deferred income tax in 2019. The tax reform further
allowed SIX to recognize a deferred tax asset on the
brand “SIX".

From 2020 onward, Swiss companies may be eligible
for new tax deductions such as a super-deduction for
R&D expenses or a deduction for self-financing. SIX is
assessing the applicability and the effect of these new
deductions on its entities in Switzerland.
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Tax reconciliation

The following breakdown shows the reconciliation of the income tax expenses reflected in the financial statements
and the amount calculated at the weighted average tax rate:

CHF million 2019 2018
Income from operating activities, gross of tax expenses 160.3 132.3
Group's weighted average applicable tax rate/ 21.1% -33.8 24.8% -32.9
Group's expected tax expenses

Impact of differences in tax rates and tax bases 0.6% -0.9 1.1% -1.5
Utilization of previously unrecognized tax losses -0.2% 0.4 -0.6% 0.9
Deferred tax recognized for tax losses of prior years -0.3% 0.5 -2.6% 3.4
Deferred tax not recognized for tax losses of the year 5.1% -8.2 2.7% -3.6
Adjustments of deferred tax for tax losses of prior years 0.0% -0.0 3.9% -5.1
Impact of permanent differences 5.1% -8.2 4.6% -6.1
Adjustments for income tax of previous years -2.3% 3.7 -2.9% 3.8
Impact of other items -3.7% 5.9 - -
Intercompany effects -0.5% 0.8 -2.8% 3.7
Group's effective tax rate/tax expenses 24.8% -39.8 28.2% -37.4

The expected tax expenses at the weighted average
applicable tax rate are the result of applying the
domestic statutory tax rates to earnings before tax of
each entity in the country in which it operates and by
reversing intercompany effects. For the Group, the
change in the applicable weighted average tax rate is
mainly due to the variation in profitability by country
and entity.

Permanent differences include tax-exempt income,
non-deductible expenses and the impact of specific tax
regulations and participation exemptions. In 2019,
permanent differences included in particular the
non-tax-effective change in value of a financial asset.

In 2018, they included in particular the tax effects from
the revaluation of investments in subsidiaries.

The impact of other items is the effect from the recog-
nition of a deferred tax asset on the br